Head & Neck 5000 Follow-up Study

Short Study Title: H&N5000 Follow-up Study

Protocol V1.2 17-10-16

Sponsor Reference Number: DE/2016/5060

IRAS Number: 211454

Signature Page

For and on behalf of the Study Sponsor:

The undersigned confirm that the following protocol has been agreed and accepted and that the Chief Investigator agrees to conduct the study in compliance with the approved protocol and will adhere to the principles outlined in the Declaration of Helsinki, the Sponsor's Standard Operating Procedures, and other regulatory requirements.

I agree to ensure that the confidential information contained in this document will not be used for any other purpose other than the evaluation or conduct of the investigation without the prior written consent of the Sponsor

I also confirm that I will make the findings of the study publically available through publication or other dissemination tools without any unnecessary delay and that an honest accurate and transparent account of the study will be given; and that any discrepancies from the study as planned in this protocol will be explained.

Signature:	Date: .26/.10/.1.b
Name (please print): SESSUA BISSET	
Position: RESGAPUH OPERATURIS MANATOR	
Chief Investigator: Signature:	27 / 12/ 2016
Name: (please print): PROFESSOR ANDY NESS	

Key Study Contacts

Chief Investigator	Professor Andy Ness	
cine investigator	Biomedical Research Unit in Nutrition, Diet and Lifestyle	
	University Hospitals Bristol NHS Foundation Trust	
	Bristol BS2 8HW	
	Tel: 0117 342 1751	
	Email: Andy.Ness@bristol.ac.uk	
Sponsor	University Hospitals Bristol NHS Foundation Trust	
3001301	Research and Innovation	
	Level 3, UH Bristol Education and Research Centre	
	Upper Maudlin Street	
	Bristol BS2 8AE	
	Tel: 0117 342 0233	
Trial Coordinator	Christine Wood	
That coordinator	Head & Neck 5000 Office	
	1 st Floor Bristol Dental Hospital	
	Lower Maudlin Street	
	Bristol BS1 2LY	
	Tel: 0117 342 9536	
	Email: Christine.wood@uhbristol.nhs.uk	
Senior Research Nurse	Katrina Hurley	
Sellioi Nesealcii Nuise	Head & Neck 5000 Office	
	1 st Floor Bristol Dental Hospital	
	Lower Maudlin Street	
	Bristol BS1 2LY	
	Tel: 0117 342 9531	
	Email: Katrina.hurley@uhbristol.nhs.uk	
Statistician	Mr C Penfold	
Statistician	Research Associate in Statistics	
	Biomedical Research Unit in Nutrition, Diet and Lifestyle	
	University Hospitals Bristol Education and Research Centre	
	Level 3 Upper Maudlin Street	
	Bristol BS2 8AE	
	Tel 0117 342 1760	
	Chris.Penfold@bristol.ac.uk	
Database Manager	Mr Stu Toms	
Database ividingel	Biomedical Research Unit in Nutrition, Diet and Lifestyle	
	University Hospitals Bristol Education and Research Centre	
	Level 3 Upper Maudlin Street	
	Bristol BS2 8AE	
	Tel 0117 342 1760	
	Stu.Toms@bristol.ac.uk	
	<u>Starroms@bristonac.ak</u>	

Head & Neck 5000 Follow-Up Study Management Group

Name	Job Title	Role in Study
Prof A Ness	Professor of Epidemiology, School of Oral &	Chief Investigator
	Dental Sciences, University of Bristol	
Dr A Waylen	Senior Lecturer in Social Sciences, School of Oral	Psychology measures
	& Dental Sciences, University of Bristol	
Miss K Hurley	Senior Research Nurse, Head & Neck 5000,	Project Manager
	University Hospitals Bristol	
Prof S Thomas	Professor in Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery,	Clinical liaison
	School of Oral & Dental Sciences, University of	
	Bristol	
Dr M Pring	Consultant Senior Lecturer in Oral Maxillofacial	Pathology liaison
	Pathology, School of Oral and Dental Sciences,	
	University of Bristol	
Mr C Penfold	Research Associate in Statistics, University of	Statistician
	Bristol	
Mr S Toms	Database Manager, University of Bristol	Database Manager

The Study Management Group will meet every month throughout the study. The meetings will review study participation, data return, data entry progress, data quality, study findings and the dissemination of results.

Contents

Signature Page	2
Key Study Contacts	3
Head & Neck 5000 Follow-Up Study Management Group	4
List of Abbreviations	6
1. Background	7
2. Aims & Objectives	8
3. Study Design	8
4. Eligibility Criteria	9
5. Participant Identification	9
6. Study Procedures & Methods of Data Collection	10
6.1 Participant Invite Letter and Information Leaflet	10
6.2 Questionnaire	10
6.3 Data Capture Forms	10
6.4 Deceased patients	11
6.5 Withdrawals	11
6.6 H&N5000 Follow-up Study Pathway:	12
7. Protocol compliance	13
8. Data Management	13
9. Statistics and Data Analysis	13
10. Data Handling and Data Protection	14
11. Monitoring and Audit	14
12. Research Governance & Authorisations	14
13. Storage of Records	14
14. Sponsorship & Finance	15
15. Indemnity	15
16. Reporting and dissemination	15
17. References	16
18. Appendices	18
18.1 Protocol Amendments	18
18.2 List of Current Study Documents	18

List of Abbreviations

DAHNO	Data for Head and Neck Oncology
H&N5000	Head & Neck 5000 Study
HES	Hospital Episode Statistics
HNC	Head and neck cancer
HNSCC	Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma
HPV	Human Papillomavirus
HRA	Health Research Authority
HSCIC	Health and Social Care Information Centre
MDT	Multidisciplinary Team
PHE	Public Health England
QoL	Quality of Life
REC	Research Ethics Committee
SCC	Squamous cell carcinoma

1. Background

Head and neck cancer (HNC) remains a significant cause of mortality and morbidity worldwide [1]. Globally, it is the sixth leading cause of cancer and accounts for 5% of all cancer mortalities [2]. Despite considerable advances in diagnosis and treatment, survival remains poor. The five year survival rate varies between cancer sites, but ranges from between 26% for hypopharyngeal cancer to 87% for thyroid cancer [3].

Tobacco smoking and alcohol consumption are key risk factors for head and neck cancer and account for around 75% of all cases [4]. The risk for smokers is estimated to be approximately 6-fold over that of never-smokers and this risk increases in a dose-response manner with duration and extent of smoking [5, 6]. Alcohol is an independent risk factor but consumption seems to work synergistically to enhance the risk of HNC associated with tobacco use, especially in the case of heavy drinkers [7].

In addition to these long-established risk factors, human papillomavirus (HPV) infection has recently been identified as a major etiologic factor for a subset of head and neck squamous cell carcinomas (HNSCC) - carcinomas arising from the oropharynx [8-10]. HPV-related HNSCCs are usually seen in young-onset cases [11]. People with HPV-positive HNSCC have a better prognosis than those with HPV-negative tumours, i.e. tobacco- and alcohol-related carcinomas, largely because they respond better to chemoradiotherapy [12].

Typically, prognosis for people with HNC depends on the stage of the disease at presentation. [1] Treatment given during the early stages of the disease (stage I/II) is relatively successful and outcomes are typically good [13]. However, late presentation is not uncommon which in part explains why survival rates have taken so long to show any marked improvement.

A further reason for poor survival rates is that people who present with HNC also frequently have underlying health problems, associated with high-risk behaviours such as heavy smoking and alcohol consumption. Common ailments include cardiovascular, pulmonary and hepatic diseases [14, 15]. Comorbidities such as these are reported to present in 21–35% of people with HNC [16], which is disproportionately higher than in any other cancer group with the exception of lung cancer. HNC survival has been shown to be directly affected by the severity of comorbidity [17], first and foremost because it has a profound effect on the treatment options that are available.

Comorbidity has also been shown to impact on quality of Life (QoL) in people with HNC. There has been a growing interest in QoL as a predictor of overall survival in people with cancer in recent years. Strong associations between QoL and short-term survival have already been reported in breast cancer [18], lung cancer [19, 20] and melanoma [21]. Whilst the body of research on QoL issues in head and neck cancer is accumulating rapidly [22-24], there remains a need for further research examining long-term survival outcomes in large clinical cohorts.

Head and Neck 5000 (H&N5000) is a large observational study of people with head and neck cancer from across the United Kingdom [25]. Recruitment began in April 2011; by the time it closed in December 2014, 5511 people from 76 separate centres agreed to take part, making H&N5000 one of the largest studies of its kind.

The study is exceptional in bringing together clinical data, patient-reported outcomes and biological samples in a single co-ordinated resource for translational and prognostic research.

At baseline, participants were asked to provide both a blood and saliva sample and to complete questionnaires on health and lifestyle, quality of life and sexual history. A clinical data capture form was completed for each participant. Where possible a tissue sample, either from the diagnostic procedure or from the operation to remove the primary tumour, was collected. The local sites also sent an anonymised copy of the participant's histopathology report. No further biological samples

were requested from participants, but follow-up questionnaires were sent out at four months and twelve months after the individual joined the study.

The follow-up questionnaires repeated many of the questions included in the baseline questionnaire apart from those enquiring about previous sexual behaviour. Additional questions were included on fear of recurrence at both four and twelve months and questions on late radio-toxicity at twelve months. As before, the research staff abstracted information on diagnosis and treatment from the hospital medical records onto a short data capture form at four and twelve months.

2. Aims & Objectives

The H&N5000 Follow-up Study aims to describe the social, lifestyle and clinical outcomes in people with head and neck cancer and relate these to baseline characteristics from the original Head & Neck 5000 study.

The primary objective is collect further outcome data on H&N5000 participants who have been in the study for a minimum of three years. The secondary objectives are:

- 1. To send out a follow-up questionnaire on patient-reported outcomes to be completed by participants who have been in the study for a minimum of three years.
- 2. To characterise three to five year morbidity and mortality outcomes in the H&N5000 cohort.
- 3. To combine clinical and lifestyle data collected on H&N5000 participants at baseline, 4 months and 12 months with 3 year data to identify predictors of HNC outcome.
- 4. To explore the long-term psychological impact of living with a head and neck cancer diagnosis.
- 5. To determine the individual economic cost of HNC three to five years after a head and neck cancer diagnosis.

3. Study Design

This is a multi-centre cohort follow-up of the Head & Neck 5000 study. All 76 study sites that recruited patients to the Head & Neck 5000 study will be eligible to join the Follow-up Study. The list of sites who took part in Head & Neck 5000 and the list of sites taking part in the Follow-up Study can be found on the H&N5000 website www.headandneck5000.org.uk

As in the original Head & Neck 5000 study, data will be collected by patient questionnaire, collection of information from the medical notes on the study Data Capture Form and linkage to national clinical databases such as those held by Public Health England, DAHNO, HES & HSCIC.

4. Eligibility Criteria

Inclusion criteria:

- 1. Participants recruited into the original H&N5000 cohort.
- 2. Participants who have been in the H&N5000 study for a minimum of 3 years

Exclusion criteria:

- 1. Participants who did not consent to be approached regarding further research.
- 2. Participants withdrawn from the H&N5000 study.
- 3. Participants who are now considered to meet the criteria for mental incapacity or vulnerability set out in the Mental Capacity Act 2005.

5. Participant Identification

Informed consent was provided by participants when they enrolled into the H&N5000 study. Consent was wide-ranging and participants were asked to specify whether:

- They were happy to complete questionnaires that include questions on subjects such as health and lifestyle.
- They gave permission for the research team to collect additional information about them from their medical notes and via linkage to health-related records including disease registries.
- They gave permission for researchers to contact them in the future regarding further studies.

The central H&N5000 office will use the study database to prepare a list of eligible participants who:

- have been in the H&N5000 study for a minimum of three years
- consented to further contact from researchers
- have not withdrawn from the H&N5000 study

In order to recruit to this follow-up study the central Bristol H&N5000 team will send the study numbers of eligible patients to the study sites for further eligibility checks. The study sites will run checks against their hospital databases and clinic letters to see if there is any reason why the individuals should not be contacted, for instance if they are too unwell to participate, or more recent mortality data has been obtained. The results of these local checks will be sent back to the central Bristol team using the eligibility log, and where no apparent or recorded reason to withhold the questionnaire is detailed by local checks, an updated patient's address will be recorded on the study 'Address Form' and sent by post to the central Bristol office so that the Follow-up Study pack can be posted out.

6. Study Procedures & Methods of Data Collection

All eligible participants will be sent a follow-up pack that will contain the following documents: an invitation letter, participant information leaflet, the 29-page study questionnaire, and a pre-paid return envelope. The packs will be sent out by the central H&N5000 office in Bristol, but if a study site would prefer to send the questionnaires to their patients this can be arranged following discussion with the central H&N5000 Bristol team.

6.1 Participant Invite Letter and Information Leaflet

All eligible participants will be sent a letter informing them about the Follow-up Study and inviting them to take part. They will have the opportunity to contact the research team to ask any questions that they may have before deciding whether or not to participate in the follow-up study.

The participant information leaflet will provide individuals with further details about the study and what their participation will require. It will be made clear in the information leaflet that participants are under no obligation to take part in the Follow-up Study and that their care will not be affected should they choose not to take part. The information leaflet will also make it clear that participants are free to withdraw from the study at any point.

6.2 Questionnaire

The H&N5000 Follow-up Study questionnaire will repeat many of the questions asked previously at twelve months: questions concerning anxieties, loss of function (such as speech or swallowing), treatment received, health economics, quality of life and late toxicity. There are some additional questions around comorbidities, use of feeding tubes, dental health, changes in eating behaviours and cancer recurrence. Participants will be asked to complete the questionnaire and send it back to the Bristol study team in a pre-paid envelope. If they have any queries about the questionnaire or how to complete it, they will be able to get in touch with the research team using the contact address and /or telephone number provided on the front page of the questionnaire. For those participants who have been identified as needing assistance with the questionnaires, the local research nurse will be available to meet the patient at their next routine hospital visit.

If the central study team have not received the questionnaire three weeks after posting it out, they will send a reminder letter along with replacement documents.

6.3 Data Capture Forms

As in Head & Neck 5000 the research staff at each site will extract clinical information about participants from their medical records and send this back to the central H&N5000 office using the Follow-up Study Data Capture Form. Site staff will make every effort to find as much of the clinical information as possible using patient notes, hospital databases, and information held by the patient's clinical team. The deadlines for return of completed Data Capture Forms will be agreed for each site at study set up.

6.4 Deceased patients

Where patients have died, a data capture form will be completed from the medical notes to the date of death.

6.5 Withdrawals

All participants have the right to withdraw from the Follow-up Study at any point. In the event that an individual decides not to continue in the study, their wishes will be recorded on the study withdrawal form. The form will record whether the individual wishes to withdraw from the study entirely, or whether they no longer wish to take part in certain sections of the study. Participants may withdraw from part or all of the three sections of the study: data collection from medical notes, questionnaire completion and linkage to national databases such as those held by Public Health England, DAHNO, HES & HSCIC. If withdrawing from one or two sections only they may remain in the study for any remaining data collection.

The form will be completed by the central H&N5000 team following notification by the participant of their decision to withdraw. If a participant has contacted local site staff to discuss withdrawal the local site staff will contact the central Bristol team as soon as possible to report the withdrawal.

6.6 H&N5000 Follow-up Study Pathway:

Eligibility check step 1: The central H&N5000 team will:

- > Record the participants who consented to further contact
- Record the participants who were not withdrawn from H&N5000
- Record the study numbers of participants who have been in the study for at least three years.
- Check mortality data from HSCIC to record which participants have died.
- Compile a list of participants eligible for the Follow-up Study

The central H&N5000 office will then send each study site a list of participants to be checked at eligibility check 2.

Eligibility check step 2: Research staff at each site will:

- On receipt of the list of participants to be checked, site staff will check the local systems (eg: hospital databases and recent clinic letters) to ensure that there is no known reason why individuals should not be contacted.
- ➤ Site staff will inform the central H&N5000 office, using the eligibility log, of those participants that may be contacted and those that must not be sent any further contact from the study.
- Site staff will send the addresses of participants that may be contacted to the central Bristol office using the study address form.

The central H&N5000 team will:

- Update each participants eligibility status in the study database
- Send eligible patients the Follow-up Study pack containing the invitation letter, participant information leaflet, questionnaire and pre-paid reply envelope.
- If the participant has not replied in three weeks a reminder letter and another Follow-up Study pack will be sent out.
- > Inform sites of which participants require Data Capture Form completion.

Research staff at each site will:

On receipt of notification from the central Bristol office site staff will complete the Data Capture Form according to the timelines agreed at site initiation.

7. Protocol compliance

Accidental protocol deviations can happen at any time. They must be reported to the Chief Investigator and Sponsor immediately by completion of the Protocol Deviation Form.

Deviations from the protocol which are found to frequently recur are not acceptable, will require immediate action and could potentially be classified as a serious breach of the protocol.

8. Data Management

The source data for the Data Capture Forms will be the patients' medical records. Data will be collected by a member of the research team using the study Data Capture Form (DCF). The form will be in paper format. The completed original Data Capture Forms will be stored at site and a copy of the Data Capture Form will be sent to the H&N5000 office in Bristol by post; pre-paid return envelopes will be provided. Patient completed questionnaires will also be returned to the central Bristol office using postage paid envelopes. All DCF and questionnaire data will be entered in to the study specific, password-protected, Access database sited on the University Hospitals Bristol NHS Foundation Trust network. The database will be backed up automatically on a daily basis as part of University Hospitals Bristol NHS Foundation Trust IT department procedures. The database will have automatic range and logic checks to reduce data entry errors.

A sample of 25% of Data Capture Forms will be checked by the central H&N5000 team against source data. This will be performed over a minimum of 10 sites. The percentage of source data checks will be increased within a site if error rates of over 10% are found. The number of sites checked may also be increased if common errors are found across sites. Source data checks may involve anonymized source data sent from sites to the H&N5000 office, for example an anonymized MDT report.

A random sample of 25% of questionnaire and Data Capture Form data will be checked by the central study team, against entries within the database to check for data entry errors. The percentage will be increased if error rates of over 10% are found.

Where data on the Data Capture Form appear inconsistent or inaccurate, or are missing, a data query will be raised. Automatic data query reports generated through the database will be run initially once a fortnight, and sent to sites by e-mail. Further cross checks on data will be performed by clinical staff from the central Bristol team. The clinical checks will be performed on a minimum of the first 25 DCFs sent in by each site. These checks will review data to look for inconsistent or inaccurate data not covered by the automatically generated query reports. Where necessary the automatically generated query reports will be updated as a result. Queries raised during the clinical checks will be sent to sites by e-mail, where possible in connection with the automatically generated queries.

9. Statistics and Data Analysis

We will describe morbidity, mortality and psychological outcomes three to five years after a diagnosis of HNC. Morbidity outcomes will be described using the ACE-27 scale of co-morbidities, mortality will be described as overall mortality and mortality at 3-years, and psychological outcomes will be described using continuous scales from the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale and the 'Fear of

Recurrence' questionnaire. We will combine the clinical, lifestyle and patient reported outcomes measures (PROM) data we will collect at 3-5 years with data already collected at diagnosis, and at 4 and 12 months after diagnosis. We will use these repeated measures to explore associations between clinical and lifestyle factors, and HNC outcomes. Specifically we will use survival analysis models for time to event data (e.g. death and disease recurrence), logistic regression models for binary outcomes (e.g. death and disease recurrence at 3-years), and linear regression models for continuous outcomes (e.g. PROM scores derived according to published protocols).

10. Data Handling and Data Protection

The database will be designed so as to protect patient information in line with the Data Protection Act 1998. Study staff will ensure that the participants' anonymity is maintained through protective and secure handling and storage of patient information at the trial centres. The study participants will be identified only by their H&N5000 ID number and initials on the Data Capture Form and database. All documents will be stored securely and only accessible by trial staff and authorised personnel. Data will be collected and retained in accordance with the Data Protection Act 1998.

11. Monitoring and Audit

The study will be monitored in accordance with University Hospitals Bristol's Monitoring Standard Operating Procedure. All trial related documents will be made available on request for monitoring and audit by UH Bristol, the relevant Research Ethics Committee and for inspection by the Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Authority or other licensing bodies. The monitoring plan will be developed and agreed by the sponsor. Local study sites may also be subject to monitoring according to their local NHS Trust policies.

12. Research Governance & Authorisations

The study will be performed subject to favourable opinion/authorisation/permission from all necessary regulatory and other bodies. This includes but is not limited to REC, HRA, and NHS trusts. This study will be conducted in accordance with Good Clinical Practice and the Research Governance Framework for Health and Social Care.

13. Storage of Records

Study documents (paper and electronic) will be retained in a secure location during and after the study has finished. All essential documents, including patient records and other medical record source documents will be retained for a period of 5 years following the end of the study. Where study related information is documented in the hard copy medical records – those records will be identified by a 'Do not destroy before dd/mm/yyyy' label where date is 5 years after the last patient last visit. Where electronic records are in use Trust policy will be followed.

Study questionnaires and Data Capture Forms will be retained for 20 years as further follow up work may be carried out in the future with this cohort.

14. Sponsorship & Finance

The study is sponsored by University Hospitals Bristol NHS Foundation Trust who assume overall responsibility for the conduct and management of the study.

The study is jointly funded by money from:

- Professor Andy Ness NIHR Senior Investigators Award
- A Cancer Research UK grant awarded to Professor Richard Martin.
- Research Capability Funding awarded to Professor Andy Ness

Patients will not receive payment for participating in this study. Sites participating in this study will not receive payment from the Head & Neck 5000 study, but will attract support costs through the UKCRN portfolio.

15. Indemnity

This is an NHS-sponsored research study. For NHS sponsored research HSG(96)48 reference no. 2 refers. If there is negligent harm during the clinical trial when the NHS body owes a duty of care to the person harmed, NHS Indemnity covers NHS staff, medical academic staff with honorary contracts, and those conducting the trial. NHS Indemnity does not offer no-fault compensation and is unable to agree in advance to pay compensation for non-negligent harm. Ex-gratia payments may be considered in the case of a claim.

16. Reporting and dissemination

We will disseminate our research findings at national and international conferences and via original research articles published in high-end peer-reviewed journals. We will also make research findings available on the H&N5000 study website.

17. References

- 1. Mehanna H, Paleri V, West CM, Nutting C: **Head and neck cancer--Part 1: Epidemiology, presentation, and prevention**. *BMJ* 2010, **341**:c4684.
- 2. Ferlay J, Shin HR, Bray F, Forman D, Mathers C, Parkin DM: **Estimates of worldwide burden of cancer in 2008: GLOBOCAN 2008.** *International Journal of Cancer* 2010, **127**(12):2893-2917.
- 3. Profiles of Head and Neck Cancers in England: Incidence, Mortality and Survival [http://www.ociu.nhs.uk/sph-documents/Head and Neck Profiles.pdf]
- 4. Hashibe M, Brennan P, Benhamou S, Castellsague X, Chen C, Curado MP, Dal Maso L, Daudt AW, Fabianova E, Fernandez L *et al*: **Alcohol drinking in never users of tobacco, cigarette smoking in never drinkers, and the risk of head and neck cancer: pooled analysis in the International Head and Neck Cancer Epidemiology Consortium.** *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* **2007, 99**(10):777-789.
- 5. Lewin F, Norell SE, Johansson H, Gustavsson P, Wennerberg J, Biorklund A, Rutqvist LE: Smoking tobacco, oral snuff, and alcohol in the etiology of squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck A population-based case-referent study in Sweden. *Cancer* 1998, **82**(7):1367-1375.
- 6. Talamini R, Bosetti C, La Vecchia C, Dal Maso L, Levi F, Bidoli E, Negri E, Pasche C, Vaccarella S, Barzan L *et al*: **Combined effect of tobacco and alcohol on laryngeal cancer risk: a case-control study**. *Cancer Causes & Control* 2002, **13**(10):957-964.
- 7. Sturgis EM, Wei QY, Spitz MR: **Descriptive epidemiology and risk factors for head and neck cancer**. *Seminars in Oncology* 2004, **31**(6):726-733.
- 8. Rosenquist K, Wennerberg J, Schildt EB, Bladstrom A, Hansson BG, Andersson G: **Oral status,** oral infections and some lifestyle factors as risk factors for oral and oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma: A population-based case-control study in southern Sweden. *Acta Oto-Laryngologica* 2005, **125**(12):1327-1336.
- 9. Schwartz SM, Daling JR, Doody DR, Wipf GC, Carter JJ, Madeleine MM, Mao EJ, Fitzgibbons ED, Huang SX, Beckmann AM *et al*: **Oral cancer risk in relation to sexual history and evidence of human papillomavirus infection**. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 1998, **90**(21):1626-1636.
- 10. Herrero R, Castellsague X, Pawlita M, Lissowska J, Kee F, Balaram P, Rajkumar T, Sridhar H, Rose B, Pintos J *et al*: **Human papillomavirus and oral cancer: The international agency for research on cancer multicenter study**. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 2003, **95**(23):1772-1783.
- 11. Goldstein BY, Chang SC, Hashibe M, La Vecchia C, Zhang ZF: **Alcohol consumption and cancers of the oral cavity and pharynx from 1988 to 2009: an update**. *European Journal of Cancer Prevention* 2010, **19**(6):431-465.
- 12. Fakhry C, Gillison ML, D'Souza G: **Tobacco use and oral HPV-16 infection**. *JAMA* 2014, **312**(14):1465-1467.
- 13. Improving outcomes in Head and neck cancer [https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/csghn/evidence/improving-outcomes-in-head-and-neck-cancers-the-manual2]
- 14. Piccirillo JF, Lacy PD, Basu A, Spitznagel EL: **Development of a new head and neck cancer-specific comorbidity index**. *Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg* 2002, **128**(10):1172-1179.
- 15. Datema FR, Ferrier MB, van der Schroeff MP, de Jong RJB: **Impact of Comorbidity on Short-Term Mortality and Overall Survival of Head and Neck Cancer Patients**. *Head and Neck-Journal for the Sciences and Specialties of the Head and Neck* 2010, **32**(6):728-736.
- 16. Okuyemi OT, Piccirillo JF, Spitznagel E: **TNM staging compared with a new clinicopathological model in predicting oral tongue squamous cell carcinoma survival**. *Head Neck* 2014, **36**(10):1481-1489.
- 17. Piccirillo JF, Costas I: **The impact of comorbidity on outcomes**. *ORL J Otorhinolaryngol Relat Spec* 2004, **66**(4):180-185.
- 18. Coates A, Gebski V, Signorini D, Murray P, Mcneil D, Byrne M, Forbes JF: **Prognostic Value of Quality-of-Life Scores during Chemotherapy for Advanced Breast-Cancer**. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 1992, **10**(12):1833-1838.

- 19. Buccheri GF, Ferrigno D, Tamburini M, Brunelli C: **The Patients Perception of His Own Quality-of-Life Might Have an Adjunctive Prognostic-Significance in Lung-Cancer**. *Lung Cancer* 1995, **12**(1-2):45-58.
- 20. Herndon JE, Fleishman S, Kornblith AB, Kosty M, Green MR, Holland J: **Is quality of life** predictive of the survival of patients with advanced nonsmall cell lung carcinoma? *Cancer* 1999, **85**(2):333-340.
- 21. Coates A, Thomson D, Mcleod GRM, Hersey P, Gill PG, Olver IN, Kefford R, Lowenthal RM, Beadle G, Walpole E: **Prognostic Value of Quality-of-Life Scores in a Trial of Chemotherapy with or without Interferon in Patients with Metastatic Malignant-Melanoma**. *European Journal of Cancer* 1993, **29A**(12):1731-1734.
- 22. Mehanna HM, Morton RP: **Why are head and neck cancer clinicians not measuring quality of life?** *Journal of Laryngology and Otology* 2006, **120**(10):861-864.
- 23. Osthus AA, Aarstad AKH, Olofsson J, Aarstad HJ: **Head and neck specific Health Related Quality of Life scores predict subsequent survival in successfully treated head and neck cancer patients: A prospective cohort study**. *Oral Oncology* 2011, **47**(10):974-979.
- 24. Karvonen-Gutierrez CA, Ronis DL, Fowler KE, Terrell JE, Gruber SB, Duffy SA: **Quality of life** scores predict survival among patients with head and neck cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2008, **26**(16):2754-2760.
- 25. Ness AR, Waylen A, Hurley K, Jeffreys M, Penfold C, Pring M, Leary S, Allmark C, Toms S, Ring S *et al*: **Establishing a large prospective clinical cohort in people with head and neck cancer as a biomedical resource: head and neck 5000**. *Bmc Cancer* 2014, **14**.

18. Appendices

18.1 Protocol Amendments

Amendment Number	Protocol version number & date	Author(s) of changes	Details of changes made	Date of ethical approval
Original ethics application	1.1 02-08-16	Prof A Ness	Section 13 altered to show that DCF and questionnaires will be retained for 20 years	04/08/2016
1	1.2 17-10-16	K Hurley	Telephone numbers updated for C Wood & K Hurley. Version numbers updated in section 18.2	Minor amendment

18.2 List of Current Study Documents

Document	Version Number	Date	Required at local sites?
Data Capture Form	1.1	17-10-16	Yes
Data Capture Form Completion Guidelines	1.0	12-07-16	Yes
Eligibility Log	1.0	12-07-16	Yes
Address Form	1.0	12-07-16	Yes
Participant Invitation Letter	1.0	12-07-16	No
			(unless by prior arrangement with H&N5000 team)
Participant Information Leaflet	1.1	17-10-16	No
			(unless by prior arrangement with H&N5000 team)
Questionnaire	1.1	17-10-16	No (unless by prior arrangement with H&N5000 team)
Reminder Letter	1.1	17-10-16	No (unless by prior arrangement with H&N5000 team)
Protocol Deviation Form	1.0	12-07-16	No. Form to be completed by central H&N5000 team
Withdrawal Form	1.0	12-07-16	No. Form to be completed by central H&N5000 team